RECEIVED

Jan 28 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHAQUILLE BRADON DOZIER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001430

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VICTOR R SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred when it ruled that Appellant was competent to proceed to trial for carjacking and failure to stop for a blue light where the physicians who evaluated Appellant “had pause” about his competency and there was evidence he was still hallucinating at the time of trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its October 2018 term, the Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for car jacking and failure to stop for a blue light. R. 239.

On August 19 – 21, 2020, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, and a jury. R. 1. Martin Spratlin represented Appellant. Id. Joshua D. Holford and Cara Walker represented the state. Id.

Appellant was found guilty as indicted. R. 215, ll. 2 – 12. Judge Goodstein sentenced Appellant to concurrent sentences of fifteen years' imprisonment for carjacking and three years' imprisonment for failure to stop for a blue light. R. 225, l. 19 – 226, l. 3.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial judge's determinations of competency must have evidentiary support and not be against the preponderance of the evidence. State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 504-505, 466 S.E.2d 349, 351 (1996).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it ruled that Appellant was competent to proceed to trial for carjacking and failure to stop for a blue light where the physicians who evaluated Appellant “had pause” about his competency and there was evidence he was still hallucinating at the time of trial.

Relevant Facts

On the morning of July 3, 2018, Appellant allegedly carjacked the complaining witness, Kathleen Schneider and failed to stop for a blue light in the car chase shortly afterwards. R. 117, l. 4 – 118, l. 17. Officer Crystal Buckingham saw a car fitting the description of Schneider’s while “traveling southbound on 17-bypass.” R. 126, l. 17 – 128, l. 16. The driver of the car attempted to flee, and Buckingham continued to pursue it. R. 143, ll. 7 – 20. A second officer, Floyd Truss also followed the fleeing car as well. R. 142, l. 5 – 145, l. 2.

Officer Buckingham trailed the car until it “rear ended another car at the Bay road intersection” on Holmestown Road. R. 129, l. 6 – 130, l.3. Appellant got out of the car and was arrested by police. Id.

Prior to Appellant’s trial, Appellant moved to relieve trial counsel and proceed *pro se*. R. 4, ll. 7 – 11. However, he changed his mind and stated that he wanted trial counsel to represent him. R. 4, l. 25 – 5, l. 16.

A pretrial Blair¹ hearing was also held to determine if Appellant was competent to stand trial. R. 19, l. 9. Doctor Sheresa Christopher was the supervisor for Appellant’s competency evaluation. R. 20, l. 12.

¹ State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981).

Christopher testified that she performed the competency tests on Appellant. R. 22, ll. 14 – 21. She conducted the MFAST, Miller Forensic Assessment Test, and Appellant’s score “gave her pause” so she decided to conduct further testing. R. 35, l. 24 – 36, l. 11.

The second test Christopher ordered for Appellant was the “ILK” or Inventory of Legal Knowledge test. Id., R. 36, l. 12 – 37, l. 13. That test was conducted by a Doctor Leahy. Id. Leahy wrote in his report that Appellant’s performance was “much improved” on the ILK test. R. 37, l. 14 – 38, l. 2. Christopher also testified that there were contemporary mental health records from “Waccamaw Mental Health” used in the report that stated Appellant was competent. R. 28, ll. 11 – 15.

Christopher testified that Appellant consistently reported having hallucinations in all of his tests. R. 33, ll. 11 – 16; R. 38, ll. 3 – 6. She also admitted that she could not “say with certainty” that Appellant was not experiencing hallucinations. R. 33, ll. 11 – 16. Ultimately, Christopher testified that she believed Appellant was competent to stand trial. R. 32, l. 23 – 33, l. 4.

Immediately after the Blair hearing, Appellant attempted to plead guilty to failure to stop for a blue light. R. 41, ll. 7 – 16. Solicitor Holford informed the court that if Appellant pled guilty to the failure to stop for a blue light charge Appellant would implicate himself in the carjacking case because the factual basis for the failure to stop for a blue light charge happened while Appellant was in the allegedly carjacked car. R. 54, ll. 14 – 20. Appellant stated the failure to stop for a blue light charge “had nothing to do” with the carjacking. R. 56, l. 22; R. 57, ll. 6 – 7.

Judge Goodstein told Appellant if he “wants to resist” a carjacking conviction he had to withdraw his guilty plea. R. 58, ll. 8 – 10. The trial court did not accept Appellant’s guilty plea to

failure to stop for a blue light. R. 58, l. 11 – 59, l. 3. Appellant proceeded to trial and was convicted on both charges. R. 215, ll. 2 – 12.

Discussion

Appellant showed signs of incompetency prior to, and during, his trial and consistently maintained that he was experiencing hallucinations such that the trial court erred when it determined that Appellant was competent to stand trial for carjacking and failure to stop for a blue light.

“The question of whether a defendant is fit to stand trial depends upon whether the defendant, because of a lack of mental capacity, cannot “understand the proceedings” or “assist in his [or her] own defense.” State v. Burgess, 356 S.C. 572, 575, 590 S.E.2d 42, 44 (Ct. App. 2003); citing S.C.Code Ann. § 44–23–410 (2002). Factors to be considered in the determination of a defendant’s fitness to stand trial include: evidence of his or her irrational behavior, his or her demeanor at trial, and any prior medical opinion on his or her competence to stand trial. Burgess, 356 S.C. at 575, 590 S.E.2d at 44; citing State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981).

In the post-conviction relief (PCR) context, in Ramirez v. State, 419 S.C. 14, 795 S.E.2d 841 (2017) our Supreme Court held the denial of Ramirez’s PCR allegation that his plea counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to obtain an independent mental evaluation was error. Ramirez, at 20, 795 S.E.2d at 844. Ramirez was charged with assault and battery with intent to kill, kidnapping, first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, first-degree burglary, and lewd act upon a child. Id. at 16, 795 S.E.2d at 842. Prior to his guilty plea, Ramirez was evaluated by two doctors, Dalal and Gedo. Id. at 17 – 18, 795 S.E.2d at 843.

According to Dr. Dalal's report, Ramirez denied having any history of medical or psychological problems. Id. at 17, 795 S.E.2d at 843. Additionally, Ramirez only had an eighth

grade education and received “mostly C's and D's.” Id. Ramirez exhibited speech difficulties, in that he had difficulty reading the words “solicitor,” “evaluation,” and “competency.” Ramirez also struggled to remember the name of his attorney. Importantly, Ramirez believed he was only facing up to a few years in the Department of Juvenile Justice, even though the charges against him were very serious. Id. However, Dr. Dalal concluded Ramirez had “sufficient factual and rational understanding of the charges against him,” and was therefore competent to stand trial. Id.

After Dalal’s report, plea counsel requested Ramirez undergo a psychological evaluation from Dr. Gedo. Ramirez, at 18, 795 S.E.2d at 843. Dr. Gedo determined Ramirez had been mentally retarded from birth, did not begin speaking until he was seven years old, was diagnosed with Attention Deficit-Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) when he was nine, and had only completed eighth grade by the time he was sixteen. Id. Dr. Gedo concluded that Ramirez had severe mental retardation, but rendered no opinion as to Ramirez's competency to stand trial. Id.

Our Supreme Court held the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the PCR court's finding of no prejudice under the any evidence standard because Dr. Gedo's report and plea counsel's testimony at the PCR hearing “clearly established a reasonable, if not strong, likelihood that Ramirez was incompetent to plead guilty.” Ramirez, at 23, 795 S.E.2d at 846.

In this case there was evidence of Appellant’s irrational behavior in that prior to trial he consistently maintained that he was experiencing hallucinations. R. 33, ll. 11 – 16; R. 38, ll. 3 – 6. Appellant also acted irrational during his trial, which showed that the “demeanor at trial” factor weighed toward finding Appellant was incompetent as well. Burgess, 356 S.C. at 575, 590 S.E.2d at 44.

For example, Appellant tried to relieve trial counsel and proceed *pro se*, then immediately changed his mind. R. 4, ll. 7 – 11; R. 4, l. 25 – 5, l. 16. He also attempted to plead guilty to failure to stop for a blue light even though he would be admitting to facts that would be used against him in the carjacking trial. R. 41, ll. 7 – 16. Appellant could not understand how the facts of the failure to stop charge would implicate him on the carjacking charges and stated the two charges “had nothing to do with each other.” R. 56, l. 22; R. 57, ll. 6 – 7.

The only factor weighing against Appellant was Christopher’s finding that Appellant was competent, and as our Supreme Court showed in Ramirez a doctor’s finding of competency does not always mean a defendant is fit to stand trial. R. 32, l. 23 – 33, l. 4; Ramirez, at 23, 795 S.E.2d at 846. Moreover, Christopher admitted that Appellant’s MFAST score “gave her pause” and she had Appellant undergo further testing. R. 35, l. 24 – 36, l. 11. She also admitted that she could not “say with certainty” that Appellant was not experiencing hallucinations. R. 33, ll. 11 – 16.

Accordingly, the trial court erred when it ruled Appellant was competent to stand trial for carjacking and failure to stop for a blue light because his demeanor at trial and his history of irrational behavior showed he was not fit to stand trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse his convictions and remand his case to the Horry County Court of General Sessions for a new trial.



Victor R Seeger
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT