**RECEIVED**

**Jan 13 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court Of General Sessions

The Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001430

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

SHAQUILLE BRADON DOZIER,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 1276  
Conway, SC 29528  
(843)-915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge correctly ruled that Appellant was competent to proceed to trial for carjacking and failure to stop for a blue light

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by an Horry County Grand Jury for carjacking and failure to stop for a blue light. Appellant proceeded to a jury trial on August 19-21, 2019, in the Horry County Court of General Sessions before the Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Joshua D. Holford and Cara Walker. Martin Spratlin represented the Appellant. The jury found Appellant guilty as indicted and he was sentenced to concurrent sentences of fifteen years' imprisonment for carjacking and three years' imprisonment for failure to stop for a blue light. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 3, 2018, at around 10:30 in the morning, Kathleen Schneider (victim) and her husband drove to his gym in Horry County. (R. 117). After victim dropped her husband off at the gym she was approached by a man in a blue shirt, who opened the door, pulled her out of the car, and threw her on to the asphalt. (R. 117-18). The man then stole her gray Jeep Wrangler Unlimited Rubicon. (R. 127). Victim called the police and was able to give a description of the man and her car. (R. 118).

Crystal Buckingham, Patrol Supervisor for the Horry County Police Department, received a call regarding a carjacking at Inlet Square Mall. (R. 126). Buckingham received a description of the carjacker being a young, light skinned, black male. (R. 127). As Buckingham was driving to the location of the incident, she spotted a car that matched the description of the stolen vehicle. (R. 127). Buckingham began following the vehicle and observed that the driver matched the description of the suspect given by the victim. (R. 127).

Buckingham followed the suspected vehicle with her lights and sirens activated. (R. 128). After running a few red lights, the suspect, later identified as Appellant, pulled over near a Speedway gas station. (R. 128). Floyd Truss, a patrolman with the Horry County Police Department, pulled up next to Buckingham and exited his vehicle. (R. 143). He testified he observed a grey vehicle matching the description of the suspected vehicle and the driver was a light skinned black male with a blue shirt. (R. 143). The vehicle then took off again and was weaving through traffic at high speeds. (R. 129). Both Buckingham and Truss chased the vehicle with lights and sirens activated. (R. 133, 144).

The suspect ultimately rear-ended another vehicle and the jeep drifted towards the sidewalk. (R. 129). The driver exited the vehicle and was apprehended by Truss. (R.130). The

driver matched the description given by the victim and was identified as Appellant, Shaquille Dozier. (R. 130, 145). Appellant was charged with carjacking and failure to stop for blue lights.

A pretrial Blair<sup>1</sup> hearing was held to determine if Appellant was competent to stand trial. (R. 29). The date of the evaluation was December 27, 2018. (R. 19). Dr. Sheresa Christopher was the Supervisor for Appellant's competency evaluations. (R.19).

Dr. Christopher testified that she performed the Miller Forensic Assessment of Symptoms Test (MFAST) on Appellant and the results indicated that Appellant was not being forthright. (R. 26). Christopher determined that further testing was needed. (R. 26). The Inventory of Legal Knowledge (ILK) was performed to measure whether someone is feigning deficits in competency. (R. 27). Christopher testified that Appellant's results in the ILK test provided a pretty clear indication he was faking his symptoms. (R. 27). Christopher then spoke with Appellant and told him to put forth all of his effort and his performance greatly improved. (R. 27-28).

Christopher testified that in making a decision on Appellant's competency she also reviewed his mental health and detention center records. (R. 28). There was no evidence of Appellant having hallucinations in any of these records. (R. 29). Christopher further explained that although hallucinations were reported in October of 2018, the medical professionals' notes in those records seemed to believe otherwise stating there were "goal directed conversations" and "logical conversations." (R. 30). Christopher testified in the Blair hearing that notes such as those question the accuracy of the alleged symptoms. (R. 30). Christopher concluded from the records and those tests that Appellant was competent to stand trial. (R. 228-38).

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Blair, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981).

Christopher also had a chance to meet with Appellant on the morning of trial and found that he had a great understanding and was still competent to stand trial. (R. 32-33). The trial judge ruled Appellant was competent to stand trial stating “I have listened to Dr. Christopher...I have listened to your well posed questions on both sides and I believe that the State has met its burden under the Blair decisions and the South Carolina related decisions and I do make a finding that Mr. Dozier is competent to stand trial.” (R. 40). Appellant proceeded to trial and was convicted on both charges. (R. 215). This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The test for competency to stand or continue trial is whether the defendant has the sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and whether he has a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him.” State v. Bell, 293 S.C. 391, 395-396, 360 S.E.2d 706, 708 (1987). A trial court’s determination of competency will be upheld if it has evidentiary support and is not against the preponderance of the evidence. State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 504-505, 466 S.E.2d 349, 351 (1996).

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge correctly ruled that Appellant was competent to proceed to trial for carjacking and failure to stop for a blue light.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred when it ruled that Appellant was competent to proceed to trial for carjacking and failure to stop for a blue light. Appellant asserts that there was evidence that he was hallucinating at the time of trial. Appellant's argument lacks merit. Based on the evidence presented at trial the trial judge correctly found that Appellant was competent to stand trial.

"The test for determining competency to stand trial is whether the defendant has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and whether he has a rational as well as factual understanding of the proceedings against him." State v. Weik, 356 S.C. 76, 81, 587 S.E.2d 683, 685 (2002). In State v. Reed, Appellant was found competent to stand trial. State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 503 S.E.2d 747 (1998). The trial judge concluded that Appellant had the factual understanding of proceedings. Id. The judge made this decision based on medical reports provided and testimony that Appellant did not have a pervasive paranoia that affected his ability to interact and to cooperate with counsel. Id. Our Supreme Court held that based on evidentiary support in the record, the trial court's determination of competency should be upheld. Id.

Similar to Reed, in this case there was evidence to support a ruling that Appellant was competent to stand trial. During the Blair hearing, Christopher testified to the results of the competency to stand trial evaluation. (R.228-238). The trial judge was able to review the Competency to Stand Trial Evaluation. Three separate people examined Appellant and all three concluded that Appellant was competent to stand trial because he had a factual and rational understanding of the proceedings against him and the capacity to rationally assist counsel in his

own defense. Id. Furthermore, Christopher met with Appellant on the morning of trial. (R. 32). She testified that Appellant still had a great understanding of the legal system. (R. 32-33).

Finally, Appellant alleges there was evidence in the record that Appellant was still hallucinating at trial. He mischaracterizes the testimony. During the Blair hearing, Appellant's counsel had the opportunity to cross-examine Christopher and bring out the possibility of the hallucinations. While Christopher could not unequivocally say that Appellant wasn't suffering from hallucinations, she saw no affirmative evidence that he was suffering from hallucinations on the day of the trial. (R. 33, 38). Further Christopher testified that even with hallucinations, Appellant could still be competent to testify, (R. 33).

Testimony was presented that Appellant was competent to stand trial and the trial judge was able to review a competency evaluation. Based on the evidence presented there was sufficient evidence to support the trial judge's ruling that Appellant was competent to stand trial. This Court should affirm.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.